Integrated Coastal Management for Climate Change

Aquaculture and the 7:3 policy in Kien Giang province Vietnam



2013





Authors	Responsible	Maps	Photos
Gay Marsden Sharon Brown Le Ba Ca	Sharon Brown	Michael Russell	Gay Marsden Le Ba Ca

Acknowledgements

The Kien Giang GIZ team, especially Mr To, provided essential support for the field work and meeting agendas. We also wish to thank the KG Mangrove Protection Forestry Boards for supplying information on farming issues, income estimates and 7:3 compliance.

List of acronyms and abbreviations:

GIZ	Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) GmbH (German Society for International Cooperation)
AusAID	Australian Agency for International Development
KGPC or PPC	Kien Giang Provincial People's Committee
FMPB	Forest Management Protection Board
VWU	Vietnam Women's Union

Foreword

This document is a component of Phase 2 (2011-2015) of the AusAID funded GIZ 'Conservation and Development of the Kien Giang Biosphere Reserve Project'.

The Kien Giang Provincial People's Committee (KGPC) recognises the need to incorporate livelihoods into mangrove forest management. As conservation of mangrove forests can conflict with the livelihood activities of people living in and near the mangrove protection zone, the KGPC requested GIZ investigate the current status and viability of aquaculture in this zone under its 2005 policy of 70% mangroves and 30% pond/production area (7:3 policy).

The KGPC proposed that assistance was needed to help landholders establish a sustainable management system for these areas through better pond design and mangrove planting regimes.

The current document outlines preliminary findings and recommendations based on field visits, discussion with stakeholders and a review of relevant literature.

For background information visit http://www.kiengiangbiospherereserve.com.vn/

Contents

- 1. PROJECT
- 2. PROJECT OBJECTIVES
- 3. INTRODUCTION
- 4. METHODS
- 5. FINDINGS
 - 5.1 Policy and Zoning
 - 5.2 Types and number of aquaculture farms
 - 5.3 Production and sustainability of farms under the 7:3 policy
 - 5.3.1 Intensive shrimp farms
 - 5.3.2 Extensive Polyculture farms
 - 5.3.3 Compliance with the 7:3 policy

6. **RECOMMENDATIONS**

- 6.1 Policy driven changes and potential actions
- 6.2 Technical issues affecting the production capacity of extensive farms
- 6.3 Marketing
- 7. IMPLEMENTATION
 - 7.1 Formation of cooperative and demonstration farm
 - 7.2 Training and education
 - 7.3 Collaboration
 - 7.4 International donor community
- APPENDIX I 'Mangrove to pond ratios' in north and south Kien Giang
- APPENDIX II Leasehold sizes in Mangrove Protection Zone
- APPENDIX III Income data from a commune in An Minh district

BIOBLIOGRAPHY

1. PROJECT

Aquaculture and the 7:3 policy in Kien Giang province Vietnam

2. PROJECT OBJECTIVES

- Evaluate the economic and environmental status of aquaculture farms in the mangrove protection zone of Kien Giang
- Provide a brief assessment of the impact of the 7:3 policy on farm viability.
- Propose strategies to assist farmers improve aquaculture productivity and profitability under the 7:3 policy.

3. INTRODUCTION

Livelihoods impacting on natural resources must be incorporated into integrated coastal management plans. This requires an understanding of their ecological and economic sustainability and of policys and regulations impacting on them. One such livelihood is aquaculture which has already had a major impact on coastal regions of Kiang Giang.

Marine and brackish water aquaculture is economically important in KG with most development concentrated in Kien Luong and Ha Tien districts. There are currently 71,484 hectares under production; 85% of this area is shrimp ponds which produced approximately 144,000 tonnes of shrimp in the first half of 2013. The remaining area of 10,722 hectares consists of crabs, algae, blood shell and fish production. There are plans to expand the production of these and other high value aquaculture species such as sweet snails, pearl oysters and arca (<u>http://vccinews.com/news 7 August 2013</u>).

A small percentage of this aquaculture in KG is located in the Mangrove Protection Zone (See Box 3). The mangroves in this zone are considered to be of high ecological importance for both erosion prevention and biodiversity. However people also live within this zone and the dominant livelihood is brackish water pond-based aquaculture.

To avoid the potential conflict between environmental conservation and economic development, caused by having people living within the mangrove belt, the government has implemented a national strategy (See Box 2) that promotes the planting of mangroves and restricts the livelihood production area on land tenures. The leaseholders located within the protection zone are issued with a 'Green book' and must comply with the conditions therein.

In 2005, in response to the national strategy, KG Provincial Peoples Committee (PPC) devised a 7:3 policy (Box 1) which stipulated that 70% of any leasehold within the mangrove protection zone, must be maintained (or replanted) as mangroves; the remaining 30% can be used for production and livelihood related activities.

The policy has now been in place for 8 years with the phasing in period due to end in 2014. This report was commissioned by GIZ, at the request of KGPC, to assess how the 7:3 policy has impacted on the economic viability of aquaculture operations in the mangrove protection zone and, if needed, make recommendations for improving economic viability. Livelihoods need to be sustainable and viable to both relieve pressure on the mangroves and to improve living standards of marginalised communities living in remote coastal regions. *Economic development and livelihoods must be fully integrated into any successful mangrove management strategy*.

4. METHODS

The focus of this report is to assess the viability of 'pond based aquaculture in the Mangrove Protection Zones along the 200 km coastline of mainland Kien Giang province' (See Figure 1).

The assessment is based on field observations, data provided through interviews with farmers and the Forestry Protection Management Board (FPMB) and a workshop conducted at the GIZ office in Rach Gia with input from a Fisheries extension officer and representative from the Vietnam Womens Union (VWU). Information was also obtained through meetings organised by Vnforest and the Ministry for Agriculture Rural development (MARD), as part of a formal National Forest Management review process.



Figure 1 Map prepared by GIZ showing Kien Giang coastline. http://kiengiangbiospherereserve.com.vn/project/

BOX 1 THE 7:3 POLICY

The 7:3 policy was iimplemented by KG provincial government in 2005 and is part of a national strategy to both protect mangroves and provide livelihoods for poor coastal communities living within the mangrove protection zone. It allocates long-term tenure and land use rights for 2 - 3ha of mangrove protection forest, and requires landholders to maintain 70% of allocated land under forest cover.

5. FINDINGS

5.1 Policy and Zoning

The National government has an action plan for the protection and development of Vietnam's mangrove forests (See Box 2 and 3). At the time this report was written (October 2013) this National Forestry Management strategy, which includes the 7:3 policy in KG, was under review by VNFOREST and MARD, in consultation with DARD, FPMB, other relevant local government agencies and farmers. Topics under discussion included non-compliance and viability of extensive aquaculture farming systems.

Outcomes of the formal review process are(as of Oct 2013) yet to be announced.

5.2 Types and number of aquaculture farms

There are **1076 farms now operating in the mangrove protection zone along the 200km mainland coastline of KG.** There is also the potential for a further 935 leases in the northern districts to commence production in the future; these leases currently either do not have the width of mangrove belt required to undertake production or the leaseholder has chosen to delay development (See Appendix I for details of farm numbers by district and commune).

The dominant farming activity in the mangrove protection zone of KG is brackish-water, pond based aquaculture.

In the northern districts, the farms are mostly **intensive shrimp** culture systems while farmers in the south employ

Box 2.

The National government has an action plan for the protection and development of Vietnam's mangrove forests, the National Programme to Restore and Develop Coastal Mangrove Forest for the Period 2008-2015 (MARD). This national project represents a significant State investment in mangroves.

The overall objective of this action plan is to promote the protection, rehabilitation and wise use of Vietnam's mangrove ecosystem and also meet the needs of socio-economic development.

Two important aims are to;

- Rehabilitate mangrove forests so that by 2015, the area is equivalent to the area in 1982 (250,000 ha). Include an increase in mangroves on shrimp farms to around 40-70 percent.

- Establish a legal framework for mangrove ecosystem management and encourage community based mangrove management. an extensive poly culture system growing shrimp, crab and blood cockles (Figure 10).



Figure: **2a**. The **northern district of Kien Luong** showing easy access to the main highway. Farms west (seaward) of the highway are subject to the 7:3 policy. **b**. A farm with a 5:5 mangrove to pond ratio; mangrove is seaward of production ponds. The arrow indicates a leasehold with two 0.25 ha ponds.

Intensive farms in the **northern districts** of Hon Dat and Ha Tien mostly culture *Penaeus vannamei,* commonly known as white leg shrimp. The farming system is characterised by high inputs, high stocking densities, potentially high profit and high risk. Such farms incur high capital investment and ongoing operating costs. Inputs include artificial feeds and aeration, which make transport systems and access to electricity essential. The farms in the northern districts of KG have access to such infrastructure which enables them to intensify their pond culture systems. Profits per unit area are very high relative to extensive systems.



Figure 3a. The southern district of An Bien. **b.** Aerial view showing pond orientation, absence of roads and intricate canal system. Only leaseholds seaward of the main canal (which runs parallel to coastline) are in the 'mangrove protection zone' where the 7:3 policy applies.

вох 3 MANGROVE FOREST ZONING according to 2011 Policy/decision 25 Kien Giang

Buffer zone- erosion or deposition zone in front of mangroves. It has now been extended from 200 m to 500 m seaward from the edge of main mangrove protective belt.

Protective zone- The Protection zone is now divided into Main and Sub sections.

MAIN section- this is the high protection zone adjoining the buffer zone. This zone is a minimum of 200m from the water edge. If wider, it is classified according to the mangrove species composition; it ends where *Rhizophora* genus starts to dominate Avicenna.

SUB section- Rhizophora dominates. It extends from the main section of mangrove to the dyke or road.

IN KIEN GIANG, 7:3 AQUACULTURE IS PERMITTED IN THIS SUB ZONE In the **southern districts** most communes are isolated with no road access or suitable source of electricity. As a result aquaculture systems are extensive or traditional, with low stocking density and little or no supplementary feeding.

5.3 Production and sustainability of farms under the 7:3 policy

5.3.1 Intensive shrimp farms



Figure 4. Plastic lined, intensive shrimp pond. Fences around ponds are to prevent crabs entering and transferring diseases. Mangrove areas are separate (seaward) from ponds. Insert- Electric paddlewheels provide additional aeration.

Most of the intensive farms in the northern districts are culturing white leg shrimp (*Penaeus vannamei*).

At a production level of 6 tonnes per ha, two crops per year and a market value of US\$10 per kg (Oct 2013; exchange rate of US\$1 =VND20,000), the gross annual income is \$US 120,000 per ha. With production cost of 70 to 75% of gross income (An 2012) the annual net profit is US\$30-40,000 for a 1 ha pond. If the leasehold is 3 ha, then the farm can be 7:3 compliant and remain highly profitable (**Note**: these costing's are rough estimates only and do not take into account loan repayments and crop losses due to, for example, disease outbreaks).

The environmental impact of intensive shrimp farms is a highly debated topic with potential negative impacts (after the initial construction stage) including eutrophication of local waters, and the release of chemicals and diseases into the natural environment. By restricting pond area the 7:3 policy effectively reduces the density of farms and thereby relieves pressure on the

environment, thus contributing to environment sustainability objectives.



Figure 4. White-leg shrimp harvest at an intensive farm in Kien Luong district, Kien Giang province. The farm is adjacent to the major highway which enables rapid road transport of chilled (on ice) product to processing plants.

5.3.2 Extensive Polyculture farms

Extensive poly-culture farming systems are practised in the more remote southern districts of An Minh and An Bien. Farmers culture shrimp, mud crabs and blood cockle in the same pond (Figure 10).



Figure 5a. Areal map of Nam Thai commune, An Minh district, with the location of farm marked in red. (Source: Google earth 2013). **b.** Farm with approximately 20% mangrove cover.

There has been a shift from the traditional farming method which relied on natural recruitment through tidal inflow to stock ponds, to the extensive-improved system whereby young shrimp, crabs

and cockle are purchased and artificially stocked in the ponds at a low density. Crablets and shrimp post-Larvae (PL) are purchased from local commercial hatcheries/nurseries. The blood cockle are either collected locally from the wild or are imported from elsewhere, including Thailand. The need for importation suggests the local supply is being depleted.

Stocking density of crabs and shrimp is low (1-3 m⁻²) compared to intensive farms (>30 m⁻²), although farmers expect mortalities and compensate by frequent pond restockings. They also do partial harvests throughout the year resulting in an unknown shrimp density. However, the maximum density is ultimately determined by the carrying capacity of the system which, with no additional aeration (source of oxygen) and minimal supplementary feeding, remains low.

Pond management consists mostly of water exchange and the periodic cleaning of pond bottoms. The timing and extent of these management strategies have a major impact on productivity and account for much of the variation in production levels between farms within a single commune.

However, the economic viability of these extensive farms is largely dependent on farm size. Land allocation in the mangrove protection zone in KG is typically less than 3 ha. Under the 7:3 policy, where mangroves are grown adjacent to ponds, this results in less than 1 ha for production ponds.

Income is determined by production volume and market price and varies between farms. Most farmers do not record farm inputs and outputs. The small (13 farmer) income survey completed during this project showed a large range of incomes within one commune (See Appendix III). The most quoted average production figure for extensive farming systems in Vietnam is 500kgs per ha per annum with incomes ranging between US\$1000 and US\$5000, depending on the currency exchange rate at time of publication (AIMS *et al.* 1999, Binh, *et al* 1997, Bush *et al* 2010, Clough *et al* 2001, 2002, Johnston *et al* 2000, Minh 2001, Omoto 2012).





The main constraint to farmers becoming compliant is the anticipated loss of income.

Figure 6. Meeting with 14 farmers in Dong Hung commune, An Minh district.

BOX 4

CONCLUSIONS

The 7:3 policy is yet to achieve its dual goals of increasing mangroves and providing livelihoods for poor coastal communities living within the mangrove protection zone.

Non-compliance is more evident in the southern districts. This suggests issues arise when the 7:3 policy is applied to extensive production systems. Specifically:

- 1. Economic viability of 7:3 extensive aquaculture farms under 3ha, is marginal.
- 2. Most leaseholds in mangrove protection zones in KG are less than 3 ha; 64% in the south and 89% in the north (Appendix II).
- 3. Most (76%) of existing farms have more than 30% of their land under production.
- 4. Farmers are reluctant to apply the 7:3 policy because it results in a loss of aquaculture production area and an associated loss of income and living standards; it threatens the viability of their farm.

According to our survey (Oct 2013) farmers in Dong Hung commune (An Minh district) are currently making a gross income of between 20 and 100 M VND per annum. However farms are <u>not yet compliant</u> with the 7:3 policy and this income is being derived from an average pond area of 1.5 ha. A household now operating a noncompliant farm could, when compliant, see a potential income loss of 50%. For a lower earning (e.g. 20 M VND per annum) household of 4 people, this is approaching the poverty line. According *MOLISA* (2010) the poverty line for rural Vietnamese was 400 000 VND per person, per month per person.



Figure 7. An extensive aquaculture farm in Nam Thai commune, An Bien district. The farmer purchased the adjoining leases to achieve a land area of 8 ha. The operation was approaching the 7:3 ratio and the family was deriving some income from mangroves. Total income 100 M VND.

Income generated from mangrove timber is low relative to aquaculture (Do *et al* 2005) and requires a 6 year grow-out period before any harvesting can take place (Decision 25, 2011). There are no (short to midterm) financial incentives for replacing pond production area with mangrove trees.

The ongoing impact of the extensive farms on the natural environment is low due to the 'low input and output' nature of the culture system. Nutrient discharge is low and the active recruitment of natural crab and shrimp larvae and juveniles (potentially depleting local populations) has largely been replaced by hatchery reared stock.

5.4. Compliance with the 7:3 policy

The compliance issue is most evident in the southern districts of KG. There is about 4 times more farms operating in the 'mangrove protection zones' in the southern districts (867) than in the northern districts (209) (Figure 8 and Appendices II and III) and these farms show much more variation in 'mangrove to pond' ratios than the northern farms. About 76% (657) of farms in the southern districts are yet to reduce their production area to comply with the 7:3 policy requirements; 38 farms having no mangroves.



Figure 8. The number of farms and their percentage mangroves for the northern and southern districts of Kien Giang.

To be viable and compliant will likely require leaseholds to be greater than 3 hectares, or farmers generate an alternate/ additional income source. Thus with current farming practises and productivity levels (income generating capacity per unit area) and the small size of extensive, aquaculture in the southern districts is unlikely to remain economically viable under the 7:3 policy.

6. RECOMMENDATIONS

An increase in farmer compliance and economic viability would be best achieved through a multifaceted approach involving technical improvements to farm management practises, education and training, innovative marketing and site specific amendments to the policy.

The following recommendations apply to the extensive polyculture farming systems of the southern districts.

Intensive farms, characteristic of the northern districts, are considered to be economically viable under the 7:3 policy, although like intensive shrimp culture farms worldwide, they are vulnerable to devastating production losses due viral disease outbreaks.

Box 5

RECOMMENDATION SUMMARY

A multi-faceted approach is recommended **to best help extensive poly culture farms be viable** under the 7:3 policy.

It should involve technical improvements to farm management practises, education and training, market exploration and site specific policy amendments.

- Address technical issues, most notably water quality (issues related to water depth, circulation and exchange rate) and transport and acclimation of larvae and juveniles.
- A cooperative approach be piloted through the formation of farmer groups in KG. This initiative should include demonstration farms to facilitate training and education.
- Farmers continue with current species but explore new market avenues.
- Training be carried out 'on farm' and involve existing extension infrastructure and include the VWU.
- Site specific policy amendments that take into account, e.g. farm size and proximity to mangroves and coastal erosion or deposition zones.
- Collaboration with organisations carrying out related projects to strengthen models and expedite up scaling of outcomes.

6.1. Policy driven changes and potential actions

The review process undertaken by VNFOREST and MARD in consultation with DARD Kien Giang, revealed a responsive government approach to the national forest management strategy. Consultants visited farms to discuss issues related to economic viability. Possible policy related options for improving extensive farming viability include:

• Reducing the 'mangrove to pond ratio' in accordance with size of land tenure. The review committee is aware 7:3 is economically marginal or unviable for extensive farms of 3ha or less. However the ratio of 7:3 is a KG provincial decision and further consultation is required with the provision of sustainability evidence.

• Site specific adjustments to the 'mangrove to pond' ratio based on whether the farm is located adjacent to a deposition or an erosion shoreline. For example, farms in deposition zones with active natural mangrove regeneration could have their ratio reduced. In return for this concession farmers become responsible for the protection and management of the mangroves seaward of their lease.

• Investigating the variables that affect the erosion prevention potential of mangroves. The quality of mangroves, as well as the quantity, needs to be considered. Changes in quality could reduce the area of mangrove required to achieve erosion prevention and biodiversity policy objectives.

• Allow specific mixtures of cash crops and mangroves. Cash crops could be included in the mangrove count (contributing to the 70%), increasing income and economic resilience through product diversity.

• <u>New</u> operations in the mangrove protection zone to be subject to a farm design approval process prior to pond construction to ensure optimal aquaculture production and minimal environmental impact. Other 'best practise' principles should also be considered for long term sustainability.

• An extension to the compliance deadline (currently 2014) while technical issues related to current

production models are addressed through research and technical training.

6.2. Technical issues affecting the production capacity of extensive farms

One approach to offsetting the income loss that results from the 7:3 policy limiting pond production area to 30%, is to increase productivity per unit area.

The majority of extensive farm ponds have been constructed by the farmers themselves, often with very limited knowledge, planning and resources. This has resulted in problems associated with water depth, circulation and exchange rates. In addition, sub-optimal farm management practises that are not always 'evidence based' contribute to low production.

Three of the main technical issues to be addressed are:

Water quality- In aquaculture, income security is linked to water quality. Management practises that should be further investigated in An Minh and An Bien farms relate to pond depth, deposition of material excavated from pond, water exchange frequency and pond (sluice) gate operation and dimensions (Clough *et al* 2002, Johnston *et al* 1999).



Figure 8. Sluice gates at extensive ponds in southern districts. The sluice gate design influences tidal water exchange rate and, if they leak, pond depth as the tide subsides. The size, location and number also effect water circulation and mixing patterns.

Turbidity (levels of suspended solids and phytoplankton) and water column stratification also need to be examined for the role they may play in the slow growth of blood cockles and stock mortalities.



Source: Nov 2013 http://thelakeexperts.com/Images/Beginner/Aeration/stratification.gif

Figure 9. Stratification in ponds resulting from poor horizontal and vertical mixing. Without sufficient movement and mixing, the water at the bottom of the pond can become low in oxygen and temperature. This will impact on the health and survival of bottom dwelling aquatic animals such as crabs, shrimp and blood cockles.

Mangroves in or near the ponds can result in tannin toxicity and excess leaf litter (decomposition on pond bottom), contributing to poor water quality (Hai *et al* 2005). An efficient (low labour/ low cost) method of trapping leaves, for example suspending nets below trees, needs to be considered.

Location of mangrove trees within the pond, as opposed to the common practise of planting trees on banks, could provide a valid means of increasing allowable pond production area. Water below foliage would be additional to the 30% maximum because it is between the trees. This culture method will require modifications to existing aquaculture practises and availability of suitable tree species may be an issue.



Figure 11. Two integrated mangrove farming systems **a.** Mangrove area is separate from pond areas, **b.** Mangroves are gown in the ponds. Source: Tuán *et al* 2005; artist Lyù Cao Taán. <u>http://www.enaca.org/modules/library/publication.php?publication_id=111</u>

Origin and quality of larvae and juveniles- Crabs and shrimp fry are purchased from commercial nurseries that offer a range of quality and price accordingly. Farmers tend to buy batches of lower quality/ cheaper shrimp post larvae, expect mortalities and compensate with frequent restockings. It is not known whether this strategy is more effective than buying less but higher-quality larvae. The blood cockle juveniles are either collected locally from the wild or imported from elsewhere, including Thailand. The importation suggests the local supply is being depleted. The sustainability of blood cockle supply needs to be

examined. In addition, transport and acclimation of all seed stock needs to be revised as they are critical to survival in ponds.

6.3. Marketing

Another strategy to improve profit per unit area is to produce a higher value product; one that can attract premium prices and gain greater market access.

In terms of product, the species that are being cultured (Figure 10) are well suited to the culture conditions, have a ready market and are high value. Thus, in the short term, under current market conditions, it is recommended that the farmers continue to culture them. Also, having 3 species provides a buffer against market fluctuations and adds to income security. To improve the income from the sale of these **species marketing efforts should be directed towards improving quality of product and brand development**. This will require careful exploration of potential markets and associated regulatory requirements.

Eco labelling and organic certification for extensive farms; Why go organic?

- NGOs and international markets are promoting eco-farming. The interest of European buyers in 'green' products is increasing among larger retailers and consumers.
- Eco-labeling of 'Integrated mangrove fish farming' (IMFFS) products can potentially attract premium prices and increase export earnings from extensive small-scale aquaculture farming in mangrove protection zones in KG.
- The Vietnamese government aims to expand certified organic production in integrated

Organic seafood products are a niche market and users currently expect to pay premiums of 30-40%.

(Ribeiro et al 2010)

shrimp-mangrove farming systems in neighbouring Ca Mau province by 2015 (Ha *et al* 2012). This expansion could include Kien Giang province.

Despite the potential benefits, past attempts at developing and coordinating aquaculture certification schemes in Vietnam highlighted a number of issues that, to date, have obstructed further development (Ha *et al* 2012, Tran *et al* 2013, Omoto 2012). For example issues related to connecting farmers to markets (long market chain and remoteness of farms) and to ensuring

consistency in quality and quantity of product need to be addressed.

Tran *et al* (2013) suggests one impediment to the success of certification schemes is the fragmented governance system which makes chains of custody from farm to processor/exporter, difficult to establish. Omoto (2012) concluded that in order to overcome conflicts of interest and legitimate representation in organic certification, the social and economic conditions of production **require regulatory intervention from provincial and local level government**. Omoto commented that

middlemen did not always ensure that farmers received a higher price for their certified product and that there were also lengthy delays in payment; both factors resulted in farmers reluctance to continue certification.



Figure 10. Marine/brackish water species grown in the 'extensive poly-culture pond systems' of the southern districts KG; mud crab (Scyll sp.), blood cockle (Anadara granosa) and shrimp (Penaeus monodon).

Issues relating to certifying and coordinating many small scale farmers may be alleviated through the cooperative farming model whereby a group of farms is certified and pressure is applied from within the group to maintain certification and meet sales targets. A cooperative approach could also help with documenting production practices and establishing a chain of custody for the products.

MARD and provincial DARD institutions and staff, with donor support organisations need to promote certification as one option for ensuring sustainable aquaculture in Vietnam.

7. Implementation of aquaculture viability improvement strategies

7.1 Formation of cooperatives and demonstration farms

- It is recommended that a cooperative approach be piloted with the formation of three farmer groups in KG. The cooperatives should be established at the local (district and commune) administrative level with each consisting of 10-20 farmers. Benefits such as shared equipment (e.g. water quality meters), technical information exchange and increased market access should be explored.
- The management and structure of the cooperative should be carefully researched and organised to ensure participatory decision-making.
- Green/organic certification: Pilot projects should be discussed with cooperatives to test whether the group certification approach is feasible under local conditions and legislation.
- Farmer groups to participate in identifying and testing new farm management strategies and pond design changes.
- Implementation of pilot projects/trials on selected farms to assess the effect of changes in farming methods.
- Successful models to be showcased on demonstration farms and fed into national policy.

7.2 Training and education.

Improving access to technical knowledge is essential for improving farm productivity. Studies show that farmers learn mostly from their neighbours but are receptive to formal training courses if they have established a trusting relationship with the trainers (Tung 2010).



Figure 11. On farm training; part of a 2012 GIZ funded pilot scale project evaluating the benefits of seabass fish in extensive poly-culture farms in An Minh district.

Thus training should make use of existing aquaculture extension infrastructure (Minh *et al* 2001). Typically the government appointed extension officers work in conjunction with the DARD, to carry out training usually at the request from the district/ commune FMPB. The training should be 'in the field', where possible at the cooperative demonstration farms, and involve visits to regions where other projects show relevant technology and results.

Where possible, training should include the local Vietnam Womens Union (VWU). As a risk management strategy, training should ensure more than one household member knows the technical aspects of pond management. This strategy reduces risks associated with illness or absence of the main farm operator. It also provides women with the opportunity to diversify skills and capacity build.

VWU is one example of an existing network that could be effectively used to achieve and scale up project outputs and to ensure the long term sustainability of outcomes. Raising the capacity and knowledge of women will also help to affect gender equality.

In addition to technical training, it is recommended that an education component be included in any project that involves the 7:3 policy. The education program needs to highlight the importance of mangroves and the purpose of the 7:3 policy and should include site visits; visits to both high erosion areas where land loss (including aquaculture ponds) has been rapid due to lack of mangrove protection forests and also to farms that have successfully implemented 7:3.

7.3 Collaboration

To expedite improvements to the economic viability of 'extensive aquaculture systems' in KG mangrove protection zones, information gained and results achieved through past and ongoing related projects should be incorporated into technical and management strategies.

Two relevant, internationally funded projects are currently underway, the results of which could feed into the innovative models to be developed and tested:

- 1. 'Developing sustainable mangrove based Polyculture model (shrimp- mud crab and clam) in Duyen hai District, Tra Vinh Province' (2013-2015) funded by Mangroves for the future (MFF) and implemented by Research Institute of Aquaculture No. 2 (RIA 2).
- 'Organic shrimp certification- a new approach to PES', (2013-2017) funded by the German federal Ministry of environment, nature conservation and Nuclear Safety (BMU) and implemented by IUCN and SNV (the Netherlands Development Organisation) in Ngoc Hien District, Ca Mau province.

7.4 International Donor Community

There is a pressing need to achieve a sustainable balance between economic development (livelihoods) and environmental protection (mangrove conservation). In relation to the above recommendations, donors, including bi-lateral and multi-lateral agencies, could assist with:

- Funding for relevant educational and training programmes.
- Promoting the product branding and national and international customer awareness.
- Funding for research aimed at ensuring aquaculture, as a poverty alleviating livelihood, is both economically and environmentally sustainable.

Appendix I.

District/	Total	The current ratio (forest/production land)									
commune	nousenoias	100%	7:3	6:4	5:5	4:6	3:7	2:8	1:9	No forest	
An Biên district	146	0	33	11	23	21	14	16	16	12	
Tây Yên	23		12	1	1	1	3	3	1	1	
Nam Yên	19		5	3	3	2	4	1	0	1	
Nam Thái	21		9	3	5	2	1	0	0	1	
Nam Thái A	83		7	4	14	16	6	12	15	9	
An Minh district	721	0	177	90	92	75	75	116	70	26	
Thuận Hòa	299		33	27	21	35	45	78	51	9	
Tân Thạnh	115		33	27	24	5	2	3	6	15	
Đông Hưng A	145		6	25	41	33	19	10	9	2	
Vân Khánh Đông	84		70	11	2		1				
Vân Khánh	40		35		4			1			
Vân Khánh Tây	38					2	8	24	4		
Total	867	0	210	101	115	96	89	132	86	38	

Table a. The number of farms in the mangrove protection zone and their ratio of mangroves to pond area for the <u>southern districts</u> of Kien Giang, October 2013.

District/ commune	Total	The current ratio (forest/production land)								
District commune	households	100%	7:3	6:4	5:5	4:6	3:7	2:8	1:9	No forest
Kiên Lương district	511	428	7	50	16	10				
Kiên Lương town	64	55	2	4	3					
Bình An	291	237	1	36	9	8				
Dương Hòa	92	76	3	9	2	2				
Binh Tri	64	60	1	1	2					
Hòn Đất district	588	472	25	45	35	6	3	2		
Bình Giang	82	55	10	6	9	1	1			
Bình Sơn	107	75	6	9	11	2	2	2		
Lình Huỳnh	99	79	9	8	2	1				
Thổ Sơn	91	82		5	4					
Sơn Bình	76	69		6		1				
Sóc Sơn	44	40		2	2					
Mỹ Lâm	89	72		9	7	1				
Hà Tiên district	45	35	3	6	1					
Mỹ Đức	45	35	3	6	1					
Thuận Yên	0									
Total	1144	935	35	101	52	16	3	2		

Table b. The number of farms in the mangrove protection zone and their ratio of mangrovesto pond area for the <u>northern districts</u> of Kien Giang, October 2013.

Appendix II.

District/comunue	Total number	Number of households in each farm size class							
	of households	<1ha	%	>1ha,<3 ha	%	>3ha	%		
An Bien district	145	4	2.8	57	39	84	58		
Nam Yen	19	0		6	32	13	68		
Nam Thai	21	0		9	43	12	57		
Tay Yen	23	3	13.0	14	61	6	26		
Nam Thai A	82	1	1.2	28	34	53	65		
An Minh district	720	10	1.4	440	61	274	38		
Dong Hung A	146	0		124	85	22	15		
Van Khanh Dong	84	0		47	56	37	44		
Van Khanh	40	3	7.5	23	58	14	35		
Van Khanh Tay	38	3	7.9	34	89	1	3		
Tan Thanh	115	0		85	74	30	26		
Thuan Hoa	298	4	1.3	124	42	170	57		
Total	1586	24	1.5	934	59	632	40		

Table a. The number of farms (households) in each farm size class (less than 3 ha, 1 to 3 ha, more than 3 ha) in the **southern districts/communes** in the mangrove protection zone, October 2013.

District/ commune	Total	Number of households in each size class						
	households	<1ha	%	1 to 3 ha	%	>3ha	%	
Kiên Lương district	447	229	51	172	38	46	10	
Kiên Lương town	64	40	63	18	28	6	9	
Bình An	227	98	43	95	42	34	15	
Dương Hòa	92	39	42	48	52	5	5	
Binh Tri	64	52	81	11	17	1	2	
Hòn Đất district	587	340	58	185	32	61	10	
Bình Giang	82	47	57	31	38	3	4	
Bình Sơn	106	81	76	20	19	5	5	
Lình Huỳnh	99	24	24	60	61	15	15	
Thổ Sơn	91	36	40	25	27	30	33	
Sơn Bình/Kien	76	47	62	23	30	6	8	
Sóc Sơn	44	32	73	10	23	2	5	
Mỹ Lâm	89	73	82	16	18	0	0	
Hà Tiên district	146	10	7	116	79	20	14	
Mỹ Đức	94	6	6	73	78	15	16	I
Thuận Yên	52	4	8	43	83	5	10	
Total	1180	579	49	473	40	127	11	

Table b. The number of farms (households) in each farm size class (less than 3 ha, 1 to 3 ha, more than 3 ha) in the <u>northern districts/communes</u> in the mangrove protection zone, October 2013.

Appendix III

Farmer	Area of land (ha)	Income from aquaculture (VND per appum)	Additional income (VND per annum)
1	3.07	100 000 000	
2	2.45		
3	2.92		
4	2.84		
5	2.5	70 000 000	
6	2.9	50 000 000	
7	3.03		
8	2.72	70 000 000	20 000 000 jobs in town
9	2.93	100 000 000	
10	2.72	70 000 000	30 000 000 jobs in town
11	3.2	20 555 000	50 000 000 from business in
			town
			30 000 000 from fruit trees
13	2.4	50 000 000	
Ave	2.5		

Table: Leasehold area and income in **Dong Hung commune in An Minh District.** Data collected inApril 2013. At and exchange rate of US\$1 =20 000 VND, 100 000 000 VND equals US\$5000.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

AIMS/ ACIAR, RIA-2, NACA. (1999). *Termination Report; Project PN9412: Mixed Shrimp Farming-Mangrove Forestry Models in the Mekong Delta. Part B. Technical Appendices.* Australian Institute of Marine Science (AIMS), ; Research Institute for Aquaculture, No. 2 (RIA-2), Ho Chi Minh City; and Network of Aquaculture Centres in Asia-Pacific (NACA), Bangkok. June. <u>http://library.enaca.org/Shrimp/Publications/PN9412.pdf</u>

Alongi, D.M., Johnston, D.J and Xuan, T.T. (2000) Carbon and nitrogen budgets in shrimp ponds of extensive shrimp pond-mangrove forestry farms in the Mekong delta, Vietnam. Aquaculture Research. 31: 387-399.

An, N. T. H. (2012). Profitability and technical efficiency of black tiger shrimp (*Penaeus monodon*) culture and white leg shrimp (*Penaeus vannamei*) culture in song cau district, phu yen province, Vietnam. Master Thesis in Fisheries and Aquaculture Management and Economics FSK-3911 (30 ECTS). The Norwegian College of Fishery Science University of Tromso, Norway & Nha Trang University, Vietnam. <u>http://munin.uit.no/bitstream/handle/10037/4770/thesis.pdf?sequence=2</u>

Baconguis, S.R. (1991). Aquasilviculture technology: key to mangrove swamp rehabilitation and sustainable coastal zone development in the Philippines. Canopy International, 17: 1, 5-7, 12.

Be, N.V. (2000). An Evaluation of Coastal Forest and Fishery Resources Management Strategies in Ca Mau and Ben Tre Provinces in the Mekong Delta, Vietnam. Ph.D. Thesis University of Philippines Los Banos, May 2000.

Bhattacharya, P. (2009) Economics of shrimp farming: a comparative study of traditional vs. scientific shrimp farming in West Bengal ISBN 81-7791-174-0 © 2009, Copyright Reserved The Institute for Social and Economic Change, Bangalore). <u>http://www.isec.ac.in/WP%20218%20-</u>%20Poulomi%20Bhattacharya.pdf

Binh, C. T., Phillips, M. J. and Demaine, H. (1997), Integrated shrimp-mangrove farming systems in the Mekong delta of Vietnam. Aquaculture Research, 28:599–610.

Broom, M. J. (1982). Structure and seasonality in a Malaysian mudflat community. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Sci. 15: 135–150. <u>http://www.int-res.com/articles/meps/9/m009p069.pdf</u>

Bush, S. R., van Zwieten, P.A.M., Visser, L., Van Dijk, H., Bosma, R., De Boer, W.F. and Verdegem. M. (2010). Scenarios for resilient shrimp aquaculture in tropical coastal areas. *Ecology and Society* **15**(2): 15. URL: <u>http://www.ecologyandsociety.org/vol15/iss2/art15/</u>

Buu, D.C. and Phuong, D.X.(1999). Selection of suitable mangrove species to rehabilitate the forests on high beds and embankments of shrimps ponds in Ca Mau, p. 124-129. In: *Proceeding of the Scientific Workshop on Management and Sustainable Use of Natural Resources and Environment in Coastal Wetlands*, Hanoi, 1-3 November 1999. MERD/CRES and ACTMANG, Hanoi. Chopin T, Buschmann AH, Halling C, Troell M, Kautsky N, Neori A, Kraemer GP, Zertuche-Gonzalez JA, Yarish C and Neefus C. (2001). Integrating seaweeds into marine aquaculture systems: a key toward sustainability. Journal of Phycology 37: 975-986.

Christensen, S. M., Tarp, P. and Hjortso, C.N. (2008). Mangrove forest management planning in coastal buffer and conservation zones, Vietnam: A multi-methodological approach incorporating multiple stakeholders. Ocean & Coastal Management **51**(10): 712-726.

Clough B.F, Johnston D.J. and Xuan T.T. (2001). A Case Study of Silvofishery Farming Systems in Ca Mau Province, Vietnam. Case Study. pp. 1-83. In: Thematic Review of Mangroves and Coastal Aquaculture. World Bank & FAO & WWF & NACA.

Clough BF, Tuan VA, Lu T, Johnston DJ, Phillips MJ and Chanratchakool, P. (2004) Mixed shrimpmangrove farming practices. A manual for extension workers. ACIAR-MOFI Project FIS/94/12. Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research.

Clough, B., Johnston, D., Xuan, T.T., Phillips, M., Pednekar, S.S., Thien, N.H., Dan, T.H. and Thong, P.L. (2002). *Silvofishery Farming Systems in Ca Mau Province, Vietnam*. Report prepared under the World Bank, NACA, WWF and FAO Consortium Program on Shrimp Farming and the Environment. Work in Progress for Public Discussion. Published by the Consortium. 73 p. http://library.enaca.org/Shrimp/Case/Vietnam/FinalSilvofishery.pdf

de Graaf, G.J. and Xuan, T.T. (1998). Extensive shrimp farming, mangrove clearance and marine fisheries in the southern provinces of Vietnam. Mangrov. Salt Mar. 2, 159–166.

Do, T.N. and Bennett, J. (2006). An economic valuation of wetlands in Vietnam's Mekong Delta: a case study of direct use values in CaMau Province Environmental Management and Development, <u>http://dspace.anu.edu.au/handle/1885/43111</u>

Dyspriani, P (2007). Governance and the study of shrimp revitalization program in Indonesia. Masters thesis in International Fisheries Management. Department of Social and Marketing Studies Norwegian College of Fishery Science University of Tromsø.

http://munin.uit.no/bitstream/handle/10037/1008/;jsessionid=2A48685BE768D4CE6F477BB5566AA 091?sequence=3

Costa-Pierce, B. (2002). The Evolution and the Blue Revolution, pp. 161-262.Government of Vietnam. Mangrove Forest Area. Available online: <u>www.kiemlam.org.vn</u>

EJF. (2003). *Risky Business: Vietnamese Shrimp Aquaculture – Impacts and Improvements.* Environmental Justice Foundation, London, UK. <u>http://ejfoundation.org/sites/default/files/public/risky_business.pdf</u>

Fitzgerald, W. J. (1997). Silvofisheries . an environmentally sensitive integrated mangrove forest and aquaculture system. Aquaculture Asia, 2: 9-17.

FitzGerald, W. J. (2002). Silvofisheries: Integrated mangrove forest. In B. Costa-Pierce (ed). Ecological Aquaculture - The Evolution and the Blue Revolution, pp. 161-262.

Ha, T.T. and Bush, S.R. (2010). The transformations of Vietnamese shrimp aquaculture policy: empirical evidence from the Mekong Delta. Environment and Planning C: Government and Policy 28 (6), 1101e1119.

Ha, T.T., van Dijk, H. and Bush, S.R.. (2012). Mangrove conservation or shrimp farmer's livelihood? The devolution of forest management and benefit sharing in the Mekong Delta, Vietnam. Ocean & amp; Coastal Management **69**(0): 185-193.

Ha T.T.T., Bush S.R. Mol A., van Dijk cHa, T., Bush T.S. (2012). Organic coasts? Regulatory challenges of certifying integrated shrimp-"mangrove production systems in Vietnam. Journal of Rural Studies.
28, 631-639. Organic coasts? Regulatory challenges of certifying ... - ResearchGate

Hawkins, S. *et al*. (2010). Roots in the Water: Legal Frameworks for Mangrove PES in Vietnam. Katoomba Group's Legal Initiative Country Study Series. Forest Trends: Washington, DC. <u>http://www.fao.org/fileadmin/user_upload/rome2007/docs/PES%20Mangrove%20Vietnam.pdf</u>

Johnston D.J, Clough BF, Phillips MJ and Xuan TT (1999) Mixed shrimp-mangrove forestry farming systems in Ca Mau Province, Vietnam. Aquaculture Asia. 4: 6-12.

Johnston D.J, Trong NT, Tien, DV and Xuan TT (2000) Shrimp yields and harvest characteristics of mixed shrimp–mangrove forestry farms in southern Vietnam: factors affecting production. Aquaculture 188, 263–284.

Johnston DJ, Trong NV, Tuan TT and Xuan TT (2000) Shrimp seed recruitment in mixed shrimp and mangrove forestry farming systems in Ca Mau Province, Southern Vietnam. Aquaculture. 184: 89-104.

Lebata JHL, Le Vay L, Walton ME, Binas JB, Quinitio ET, Rodriguez EM and Primavera JH. (2009). Evaluation of hatchery-base enhancement of the mud crab *Scylla* spp., fisheries in mangroves: comparison of species and release strategies. Marine and Freshwater Research 60:58-69.

Lebe I L, Tri NH, Saengnoree A, Pasong S, Buatama D, Le KT.(2002). Industrial transformation and shrimp aquaculture in Thailand and Vietnam: pathways to ecological, social and economic sustainability? Ambio; 31(4):311–23.

Lebel, L., Tri, N.H., Saengnoree, A., Pasong, S., Buatama, U. and Thoa, L.K. (2002). Industrial transformation and shrimp aquaculture in Thailand and Vietnam: pathways to ecological, social, and economic sustainability? *Ambio*, *31*, 311–23.

Lewis, R.R., Phillips, M.J., Clough, B. and Macintosh, D.J. (2003). Thematic Review on Coastal Wetland Habitats and Shrimp Aquaculture. Report prepared under the World Bank, NACA, WWF and FAO Consortium Program on Shrimp Farming and the Environment. Work in Progress for Public Mangroves for the future (2013). Developing sustainable mangrove based polyculture model (shrimp-crab-mud clam) in Duyen Hai District, Tra Vinh Province.

http://www.mangrovesforthefuture.org/grants/small-grant-facilities/viet-nam/developingsustainable-mangrove-based-polyculture-model-shrimp-crab-mud-clam-in-duyen-hai-district-travinh-province/ Minh T.H. (2005). Management of the integrated mangrove-aquaculture farming system in the Mekong Delta of Vietnam. A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for degree of Master of Science, AIT, Bangkok, Thailand. A case study of direct use values in CaMau Province. Environmental Management and Development; Occasional Paper No. 8 ISSN 1447-6975 June 2005. https://digitalcollections.anu.edu.au/bitstream/1885/43111/2/emd_op8.pdf

Minh,T.H., Yakupitiyage, A and Macintosh, D. J. (2001). Management of the Integrated Mangrove-Aquaculture Farming Systems in the Mekong Delta of Vietnam. ITCZM Monograph No. 1, 24 pp <u>http://mit.biology.au.dk/cenTER/cenTER%20PDF%20Publ/2001_Minh_Yakupitiyage_Macintosh_ITC</u> <u>ZM_MonVol1.pdf</u>

Nhuong, T.V., Luu, L.T., Tu, T.Q., Tam, P.M. and Nguyet, T.T.A. (2002). Vietnam shrimp farming review. Individual Partner Report for the Project: Policy research for sustainable shrimp farming in Asia. European Commission INCO-DEV Project PORESSFA No.IC4-2001-10042, CEMARE University of Portsmouth UK and RIA1, Bac Ninh, Vietnam, 19 p.

http://www.port.ac.uk/research/cemare/publications/pdffiles/sustainableshrimpfarminginasia/filet odownload,28779,en.pdf

Omoto, R. (2012). Small-scale producers and the governance of certified organic seafood production in Vietnam's Mekong Delta. A thesis presented to the University of Waterloo in fulfilment of the thesis requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Geography. Waterloo, Ontario, Canada © Reiko Omoto 2012. <u>http://uwspace.uwaterloo.ca/handle/10012/7078</u>

Petersen, E., Thanh D., Suc, N. and Hien, T (2009) Mud crab farming in Vietnam – bio economics and perceived constraints to development. ACE Discussion Paper 2009/03. <u>http://www.advancedchoiceeconomics.com.au/ACEDiscussionPaper2009_3.pdf</u>

Populus, J., Martin, J.L. and An, N. T. (2002) Shrimp farming sustainability in the Mekong delta Environmental and technical approaches *Proceedings of the Workshop held in Travinh (Vietnam), 5-8 March, 2002. IFREMER BP 70 29280 Plouzané.* <u>http://www.com.univ-</u> <u>mrs.fr/IRD/gambas/workshop/pdf/wktravh.pdf</u>

Phuong, N.T., Sinh, L.X., Thinh, N.Q., Chau, H.H., Anh, C.T. and Hau, N.M. (2007). Economics of aquaculture feeding practices: Viet Nam. In M.R. Hasan (ed.). Economics of aquaculture feeding practices in selected Asian countries. *FAO Fisheries Technical Paper*. No. 505. Rome, FAO. 2007. pp. 183-205. <u>ftp://ftp.fao.org/docrep/fao/010/a1456e/a1456e07.pdf</u>

Primavera, J. (2000). Integrated mangrove-aquaculture systems in Asia. Integrated Coastal Zone Management pp. 120-129. Primavera, J. and Esteban . J. 2008. A review of mangrove rehabilitation in the Philippines: successes, failures and future prospects. Wetlands Ecology and Management **16**(5): 345-358.

Primavera, J.H. (1998). Tropical shrimp farming and its sustainability. In: S. de Silva (Ed.), Tropical Mariculture. Academic Press, London, pp. 257-289.

Primavera, J.H. (2006). Overcoming the impacts of aquaculture on the coastal zone Ocean & Coastal Management 49,pp 531–545. <u>http://poli.haifa.ac.il/~eranv/material_vigoda/GIF/Socio-Econ-Articles/Primavera%202006.pdf</u>

Pucher, J. Steinbronn, S., Mayrhofer, R., Iven Schad, I., El-Matbouli, M and Focken, U. (2013) Improved Sustainable Aquaculture Systems for Small-Scale Farmers in Northern Vietnam, in H.L. Fro"hlich *et al.* (eds.), Sustainable Land Use and Rural Development in Southeast Asia: Innovations and Policies for Mountainous Areas, Springer Environmental Science and Engineering, DOI 10.1007/978-3-642-33377-4 Ch 8. <u>http://download.springer.com/static/pdf/656/chp%253A10.1007%252F978-3-642-</u> <u>33377-4 8.pdf?auth66=1381896498_6d3bb47c851379fbdf92898304c034c0&ext=.pdf</u>

Raux, P., Bailly, D., and Nhuong, T. V. (2006). Vietnamese shrimp farming at a key point in its development: a review of issues examining whether development is being carried out in a sustainable way. In P. Leung, Engle, Carole, (Ed.), *Shrimp culture: economics, market, and trade* (pp. 107-129): Baton Rouge, La.: World Aquaculture Society ; Ames, Iowa : Blackwell Pub.

Ribeiro, L., Soares, F., Cunha, M. E. and Pousão-Ferreira, P.(2010), <u>"Organic Aquaculture: a strategy</u> <u>for valorisation of semi-intensive aquaculture?</u>", International Workshop on Sustainable Extensive and Semi-intensive Aquaculture Production in Southern Europe, Tavira, Portugal: Stiftung Ökologie & Landbau (SÖL).

Ronnback, P. (1999). The ecological basis for economic value of seafood production supported by mangrove ecosystems. Ecological Economics 29; 235–252.

http://ecosystems.wcp.muohio.edu/studentresearch/climatechange03/productivity/pdf's/Mangrov eseafoodproduction.pdf

Rönnbäck, P. (2002) Environmentally Sustainable Shrimp Aquaculture, Swedish Society for Nature Conservation.

http://www2.naturskyddsforeningen.se/upload/Foreningsdokument/Rapporter/rapport_internation ella_enviromentally_sustainable_shrimp_agriculture.pdf

Rönnbäck, P.; Rona, B. and Ingwall, L. (2007) The return of ecosystem goods and services in replanted mangrove forests—Perspectives from local communities in Gazi Bay, Kenya. *Environ. Conserv. 34*, 313–324.

Tho, N., Merckx, R. and Ut, V.N. (2012). Biological characteristics of the improved extensive shrimp system in the Mekong delta of Vietnam. Aquaculture Research **43**(4): 526-537.

Tho, N., Ut, V.N. and Merckx, R. (2011). Physico-chemical characteristics of the improved extensive shrimp farming system in the Mekong Delta of Vietnam. Aquaculture Research **42**(11): 1600-1614.

Tien, V.D. and Griffiths, D. (2009). Shrimp Aquaculture in Vietnam: Best Practice and Future Direction. <u>http://www.fisheries.go.th/aseanshrimpalliance/index.php</u>

Tiensongrusmee, B.and Pontjoprawiro, S. (1988). FAO Cockle Culture INS/81/008/MANUAL/12 http://www.fao.org/docrep/field/003/ab887e/ab887e00.htm

Tran, N., Bailey, C., Wilson, N. and Phillips, M. (2013).Governance of Global Value Chains in Response to Food Safety and Certification Standards: The Case of Shrimp from Vietnam, World Development. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2013.01.025 Trott L.A., McKinnon, A.D., Alongi, D.M., Davidson, A. and Burford, M. (2004) Carbon and nitrogen processes in a mangrove creek receiving shrimp farm effluent. Estuarine Coastal and Shelf Science. 59: 197-207.

Tuán, V. A., Clough, B, Thieàu Lö, Johnston, D., Phillip M.s and Chanratchakool, P. (2005). Mixed shrimp-mangrove farming practices- a manual for farmers. ACIAR - MOFI Project FIS/94/12. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0044848600003483

Tung, P. (2010) Technical Efficiency Of Improved Extensive Shrimp Farming In Ca Mau Province, Vietnam. Master Thesis in International Fisheries and Aquaculture Management and Economics. The Norwegian College of Fishery Science University of Tromso, Norway & Nha Trang University, Vietnam.

http://munin.uit.no/bitstream/handle/10037/2568/thesis.pdf;jsessionid=A1B43ED0437DF0B0283 E6F377F38AE6F?sequence=2

Vaiphasa, C., de Boer, W.F., Skidmore, A.K., Panitchart, S., Vaiphasa, T., Bamrongrugsa, N. and Santitamnont, P. (2007). Impacts of shrimp pond waste materials on mangrove growth and mortality: a case study from Pak Phanang, Thailand. Hydrobiologia 591:47-57.

Vietnam Climate Change Working Group (CCWG) 2013 Workshop on Effective Community-Based Mangrove Management, Hanoi, Sept 12th 2013. <u>http://www.apan-gan.net/sites/default/files/resource/attach/Minutes%20Mangrove%20Workshop.pdf</u>

Vo, Q.T., Kuenzer, C., Vo, Q.M., Moder, F. and Oppelt, N. (2012). Review of valuation methods for mangrove ecosystem services. *Ecol. Indic.* 23, 431–446.

World Bank, 1999a. Project Information Document. Report no. PID2789, Coastal Wetlands Protection and Development Project. http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/docsearch/projects/P042568

World Bank (1999). Update of the environmental and social assessment of the Vietnam Coastal Wetlands Protection and Development Project. Report no. E-239, vol.2. http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/docsearch/report/E239

World Bank, ISME, cenTER Aarhus (2004). *Principles for a Code of Conduct for the Management and Sustainable use of Mangrove Ecosystems.* http://mit.biology.au.dk/cenTER/MCB_Files/2005_MCB_Code_March.pdf